STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

—————
Certiorari to Laurens County

R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge
—————

KIRK WILLIS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-002508
—————

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
—————

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED
JUL 12 2018
S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

In violation of Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights, did plea counsel provide ineffective assistance when he advised Petitioner he would be required to serve only six months of a five-year prison sentence where Petitioner was required to serve almost double the amount of time that plea counsel advised, which rendered Petitioner's guilty plea involuntary, unknowing, and unintelligent?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 30, 2015, a Laurens County grand jury indicted Petitioner for two counts of criminal domestic violence, third offense, two counts of attempted murder, and one count of possession of a weapon during a violent crime. App. 119-128. The charges stemmed from an incident involving Petitioner's wife on August 7, 2014. App. 5, ll. 6-21. Additionally, the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services issued an arrest warrant for Petitioner, alleging he violated the terms of his probation. App. 100.

Initially, Chelsea McNeill represented Petitioner. App. 74, ll. 9-10. However, on October 1, 2014, Bryan Able was appointed to represent Petitioner. App. 74, ll. 5-11. Then, on October 13, 2015, the Honorable Donald B. Hocker relieved Able at Petitioner's request. App. 83, ll. 16-18. Shortly thereafter, Aaron Taylor was appointed as Petitioner's counsel. App. 89, ll. 7-15.

Plea negotiations

Plea counsel requested a "time served sentence" in exchange for Petitioner's guilty plea, but the solicitor rejected this offer due to Petitioner's prior record. App. 92, ll. 20-22. The solicitor offered to recommend a five-year sentence if Petitioner pled guilty to assault and battery in the first degree, a lesser-included offense of attempted murder. App. 3, ll. 4-10; App. 93, ll. 1-2. The solicitor also argued to dismiss the other charges. App. 9, ll. 13-16. Finally, the state agreed Petitioner's five-year sentence would be served concurrently with any time he served as part of the probation revocation. App. 9, ll. 17-18. Petitioner accepted the state's offer with the understanding that he would get credit for the time he spent awaiting disposition on the pending charges as well as credit for the time he had served concerning the charge for which he had received a probationary sentence. App. 11, ll. 12-20; App. 12, ll. 3-18.

Guilty plea hearing

On November 3, 2015, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. to enter a guilty plea pursuant to the terms of the plea agreement he entered into with the state. App. 1. Taylor represented Petitioner, and Warren Mowry represented the state. App. 1. Judge Addy accepted Petitioner's guilty plea and sentenced Petitioner according to the terms of the agreement. App. 10, ll. 1-5; App. 13, ll. 10-17; App. 129. Additionally, Judge Addy revoked Petitioner's probation in full and ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. App. 13, ll. 12-15; App. 129.

Post-conviction relief proceedings

On September 9, 2016, Petitioner filed a post-conviction relief (PCR) application. App. 15-22. On March 13, 2017, Petitioner filed his amended PCR application through counsel, Ashley A. McMahan. App. 28-29. On October 11, 2017, Petitioner and his counsel, McMahan, appeared before R. Scott Sprouse for an evidentiary hearing on his PCR application. App. 30. Justin Hunter represented the state. App. 30.

During the PCR hearing, Petitioner explained that Taylor told Petitioner he would be required to serve only six months in prison. App. 68, l. 23 – App. 69, l. 19. However, Petitioner served almost double. App. 68, l. 23 – App. 69, l. 19. Taylor explained that for a non-violent offense, Petitioner would be required to serve a total of thirty months of his five-year sentence. App. 68, l. 23 – App. 69, l. 19. In light of Petitioner receiving credit for 556 days of time served, he would only be required to serve six additional months. App. 68, l. 23 – App. 69, l. 19. For the final six months, according to Taylor, Petitioner would get a furlough. App. 68, l. 23 – App. 69, l. 19. While Petitioner received a furlough for his final six months, he was required to serve eleven months in prison, not the six months promised by Taylor. App. 69, ll. 2-4.

At the PCR hearing, Taylor explained that he did not remember if he told Petitioner “exactly how much [time] he would have to do.” App. 95, ll. 2-10. Taylor did “not want to say that [he] did or didn’t” because he did not remember. App. 95, ll. 2-6. He could not “confirm or deny” that he advised Petitioner he would serve only six months in prison. App. 95, ll. 8-9.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Sprouse took the matter under advisement. App. 97, ll. 24-25. By an order filed on November 27, 2017, Judge Sprouse denied Petitioner relief from his conviction and sentence. App. 101-118. In his order denying relief, Judge Sprouse found Petitioner failed to prove plea counsel was deficient. App. 116. Judge Addy found Petitioner “acknowledged during the plea hearing that he understood the charge carried up to ten years and the state was making a recommendation of five years.” App. 116. Further, according to Judge Sprouse, Petitioner “acknowledged that no one had promised him anything in order to plead guilty other than the state’s five year recommendation.” App. 116. In light of Petitioner not raising any “concerns to the plea judge,” Judge Sprouse found Petitioner “was well informed of the amount of time he was facing and the recommendation from the state.” App. 116.

Finally, the PCR judge found Petitioner “failed to show that he suffered prejudice.” App. 116. According to the judge, “[e]ven if Mr. Taylor did give [Petitioner] a prediction of when [Petitioner] would be eligible for parole, the plea-judge conducted a proper colloquy concerning the amount of time [Petitioner] was facing.” App. 116. Judge Addy also relied upon his finding that Petitioner “failed to show that he would have rather gone to trial.” App. 117.

On December 3, 2017, Petitioner served his notice of appeal. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

In violation of Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights, Plea counsel provided ineffective assistance when he advised Petitioner he would be required to serve only six months of a five-year prison sentence where Petitioner was required to serve almost double the amount of time that plea counsel advised, which rendered Petitioner's guilty plea involuntary, unknowing, and unintelligent.

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); see also Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

In the context of a guilty plea, a petitioner must show that counsel was ineffective and that there is a reasonable probability but for counsel's errors, he would not have pled guilty. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58-59 (1985); Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 97, 535 S.E.2d 926, 927 (2000); Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 115, 531 S.E.2d 294, 296 (2000); Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 164, 485 S.E.2d 367, 370 (1997); Rayford v. State, 314 S.C. 46, 48, 443 S.E.2d 805, 806 (1994).

“The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.” Hill, 474 U.S. at 56. “Defendants have a Sixth Amendment right to counsel, a right that extends to the plea-bargaining process.” Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156, 162 (2012). “Before deciding whether to plead guilty, a defendant is entitled to the effective assistance of competent counsel.” Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 364 (2010) (internal quotations omitted). The Supreme Court has “never applied a distinction between direct and collateral consequences to define the scope of constitutionally ‘reasonable professional assistance’ required under Strickland.” Id. at 365 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689).

Due process of law requires that before a guilty plea can be entered voluntarily and intelligently, a defendant must be advised of his privilege against compulsory self-incrimination, the right to trial by jury, and the right to confront one’s accusers. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 243-244 (1969); see also Burnett v. State, 352 S.C. 589, 591, 576 S.E.2d 144, 145 (2003). The record must show with certainty that the plea is “an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege.” State v. Patterson, 278 S.C. 319, 322, 295 S.E.2d 264, 265 (1982) overruled on other grounds State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991). Judges are required to give the defendant an explanation of the defendant’s waiver of his constitutional rights and a realistic picture of all sentencing possibilities. State v. Armstrong, 263 S.C. 594, 598, 211 S.E.2d 889, 891 (1975).

In order for a defendant to knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty, the defendant must have a full understanding of the consequences of the plea. Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991) (citing State v. Hazel, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980)). The judge must question the defendant about the possible punishment that could be imposed. Id. at 434-435. This Court has

held that a defendant must “be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived.” Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 624 (1999) (citing Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991); State v. Hazel, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980)). A guilty plea is rendered involuntary, unknowing, and unintelligent when a defendant pleads guilty to a crime without knowing the direct consequences of the guilty plea. Hazel, 275 SC at 394, 271 S.E.2d at 603.

This Court has held errors in sentencing advice entitle defendants to relief. Recently, this Court reversed a PCR court’s failure to grant relief where a PCR applicant received and relied upon incorrect sentencing advice when entering his guilty plea. Robinson v. State, 422 S.C. 78, 88-89, 810 S.E.2d 32, 38 (2018). It was undisputed that Robinson’s counsel advised Robinson that if he were to enter a guilty plea, he would be sentenced under the old law, which provided for a sentencing range of zero to thirty years, but that if he went to trial, then he would be sentenced under the new law, which provided for a sentencing range of twenty-five years to life, if he were found guilty. Id. at 82, 810 S.E.2d at 34-35. This Court held counsel’s advice was not within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases because “his advice that the state had the ability to prosecute [Robinson] under the [new] law was clearly incorrect” as it would violate the ex post facto clauses of the state and federal constitutions. Id. at 86, 810 S.E.2d at 36-37.

Examining prejudice, this Court held the record was “clear that [Robinson] placed particular emphasis on his potential sentencing exposure in deciding whether to plead guilty.” Id. at 87, 810 S.E.2d at 37. Robinson “testified at the PCR hearing that he pled guilty *only* because he wanted to avoid the risk of receiving a life sentence under the amended law.” Id. (emphasis in original). Accordingly, this Court held Robinson “demonstrated a reasonable probability that he would have

rejected the plea offer and proceeded to trial but for plea counsel's incorrect advice." Id. at 88, 810 S.E.2d at 37.

In Ray v. State, 303 S.C. 374, 376, 401 S.E.2d 151, 152-153 (1991), this Court held a defendant's guilty plea was not intelligently and voluntarily made in light of erroneous advice given by counsel. Defense counsel advised the defendant that he would be sentenced to life without parole if he were convicted of both armed robbery counts, which was in error. Id. at 375, 401 S.E.2d at 152. The truth was that if he were convicted "he *may* face a sentence of seventy-five years without parole, but could face a sentence as short as ten years." Id. at 376, 401 S.E.2d at 152-153 (emphasis in original). This Court found trial counsel's incorrect advice was not within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. Id. at 376, 401 S.E.2d at 152. This Court further found that the defendant suffered prejudice where he testified he would not have pled guilty absent the erroneous advice, the real distinction between the penalty he faced and the advice given, and his steadfast maintenance of his innocence. Id. at 376, 401 S.E.2d at 153.

Similarly, this Court held a defendant was entitled to a new trial based upon erroneous sentencing advice of defense counsel in Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 402 S.E.2d 484 (1991). According to the testimony presented during the post-conviction relief hearing, defense counsel advised the defendant that he faced one hundred years on the four indictments. However, this Court determined the defendant actually faced a seven to twenty-five year sentence on one count and a twenty-five year sentence on the other count as the indictments contained overlapping and greater and lesser charges. Id. at 542-543, 402 S.E.2d at 485. Due to this erroneous advice, this Court concluded that counsel provided deficient advice, satisfying the first prong of the test. Turning to the second prong, this Court concluded the defendant suffered prejudice in light of his testimony

that he would not have entered a guilty plea if defense counsel had not misinformed him. Id. at 543, 402 S.E.2d at 485-486.

In Hinson v. State, 297 S.C. 456, 377 S.E.2d 338 (1989), this Court granted the defendant post-conviction relief where defense counsel provided incorrect advice concerning parole eligibility. Defense counsel advised the defendant that he would be eligible for parole after service of ten years if he pled guilty to common law murder. Id. at 457, 377 S.E.2d at 339. Defense counsel explained to the defendant that statutory murder permitted parole after twenty years, but common law murder permitted parole after ten years. Id. As a result of this erroneous advice, the defendant entered a guilty plea. Id. at 457-458, 377 S.E.2d at 339. This Court held counsel's advice was erroneous and fell below the level of competence expected of attorneys in criminal cases because there was no distinction between statutory and common law murder. Id. at 458, 377 S.E.2d at 339.

Moving to the second prong, this Court concluded Hinson suffered prejudice where the he testified his plea was induced by the erroneous advice, and defense counsel admitted he could not recall the advice given, but the co-defendant's counsel recalled the erroneous advice. Id. In Hinson, the evidence was "uncontroverted that Hinson entered his plea in expectation of receiving the lesser period for parole eligibility." Hinson, 297 S.C. at 458, 377 S.E.2d at 339.

During the guilty plea hearing, plea counsel argued strenuously for Petitioner to receive credit for 104 days of time served in addition to 452 days for a total of 556 days. App. 11, ll. 12-15. Plea counsel argued that Petitioner should receive credit for 452 days that he served in jail awaiting disposition of the pending charges. App. 11, ll. 12-15. In addition, plea counsel requested the judge give Petitioner credit for an additional 104 days, which was the amount of time Petitioner served on the offense for which he had received probation. App. 11, ll. 14-15. Counsel explained Petitioner's receipt of the credit for time served was a term of the plea

agreement necessary to “making this deal go through.” App 11, ll. 18-20. Later, counsel reiterated that Petitioner receiving credit for the time he served on the probationary sentence “was kind of part of the way [they] got this over the finish line.” App. 12, ll. 6-12.

Thus, counsel’s statements during the guilty plea showed the importance of the length of the sentence he would be required to serve to Petitioner’s understanding of the plea deal. More specifically, Petitioner’s guilty plea was based upon his understanding that the time he would spend in prison on the five-year sentence was reduced by the amount of time for which he would get credit coupled with the amount of time he would be required to serve on a sentence for a non-violent offense.

Plea counsel’s advice to Petitioner that he would serve only six months in prison was deficient performance where the undisputed evidence showed Petitioner was required to serve almost double what plea counsel advised. The deficient performance prejudiced Petitioner because he relied upon the advice when accepting the state’s plea offer. Plea counsel’s argument regarding “credit for time served” at the guilty plea hearing made clear that Petitioner was induced to enter a guilty plea because he believed he would be required to serve only six additional months in prison.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully requests this Court grant the petition for writ of certiorari and order full briefing on the issue presented. In the event, this Court grants the petition, but dispenses with further briefing, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court reverse the PCR court, find plea counsel rendered ineffective assistance, vacate Petitioner's guilty plea and sentence, and remand for a new trial.

Susan B. Hackett
Susan B. Hackett
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER