STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO LAURENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002508

KIRK WILLIS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JANELL H. GREGORY
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 103176

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is not presently in the South Carolina Department of Corrections.¹ During the October 2015 term, the Laurens County Grand Jury indicted Kirk Willis (Petitioner) for two counts of attempted murder (2015-GS-30-1735, 1738), two counts of criminal domestic violence (2015-GS-30-1737,1734), and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2015-GS-30-1739). Petitioner was initially represented by Chelsea McNeill, Esquire, and later by Bryan Able, Esquire, both of the Eighth Circuit Public Defender's Office. Ultimately, Petitioner was represented by Aaron Taylor, Esquire (hereinafter Counsel). Assistant Solicitor Warren Mowry of the Sixteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office prosecuted the case.

On November 3, 2015, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. and pled guilty to first degree assault and battery (non-violent) as a lesser included offense of attempted murder. During the guilty plea hearing, the State called the case and explained to Judge Addy that the State was recommending a five year sentence. (Appx. 3.) Petitioner agreed with the State's summary of the facts and testified he was pleading guilty because he was guilty of the charge. (Appx. 6.) Judge Addy informed Petitioner that first degree assault and battery carries up to a ten year sentence. (Appx. 4.) Judge Addy asked Petitioner, "[A]side from the recommended five year sentence has anyone promised you anything else?" (Appx. 9.) Petitioner replied, "No, sir." Counsel clarified that the sentence is to run concurrent with Petitioner's probation revocation sentence. (Appx. 9.) Counsel explained to the court that Petitioner should receive credit for five-hundred and eighty-eighty days. (Appx. 11.) The State calculated Petitioner should only receive credit for four-hundred and fifty-two days. (Appx. 11.)

¹ According to the South Carolina Department of Corrections, Petitioner was released December 28, 2016.

Counsel indicated his calculate was higher because he was giving Petitioner credit for over one-hundred days he spent on probation. (Appx. 11.) The balance of Petitioner's indictments were dismissed in accordance with a plea agreement between Petitioner and the State. Pursuant to the recommendation by the State, Judge Addy sentenced Petitioner to imprisonment for five years. Petitioner received credit for five-hundred and fifty-six days. Petitioner did not file a direct appeal.

Petitioner filed his application for post-conviction relief on September 9, 2016 alleging ineffective assistance of counsel and citing various cases in support of his general allegation. Respondent sent a Return on February 17, 2017. On March 13, 2017, Petitioner, through counsel, amended his application with the following allegations:

1. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel as to Bryan C. Able, Esquire:

- a. Failed to file a motion for speedy trial, and if he did he also failed to have that motion addressed by the Court.
- b. Failed to secure preliminary hearing. When Mr. Able was asked when the preliminary hearing would be held he indicated the Applicant was already indicted the Applicant was already indicted, when in fact, the Applicant was not. Applicant was not indicted until over a year later.
- c. Failed to have bond reduction motion brought before Court.
- d. Failed to discuss possible defense and challenges to the evidence with the Applicant.
- e. Failed to challenge the Solicitor's incorrect statements made at the bond hearing regarding the fact. Had he done so, the Applicant would most likely have gotten a lower bond, PR bond, or ultimately the charges would have been dismissed.

2. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel as to Arron V. Taylor, Esquire:

- a. Failed to address that Applicant's probation was revoked before he pled guilty.
- b. Failed to address possible double jeopardy issues. There were multiple indictments for the same charges. Failed to also secure an arraignment on the charges that were directly indicted.

- c. Failed to have Mr. Able's motions brought before the Court.
- d. Failed to discuss challenges to the evidence with Applicant. Counsel only went over the paperwork with the Applicant and never discussed a trial strategy.
- e. Failed to discuss with Applicant that he could challenge the inconsistent statements made by the witnesses and didn't make a motion *in limine* to have those statements addressed by the Court prior to a guilty plea.

On October 11, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse. Petitioner was represented by Ashley A. McMahan, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Assistant Attorney General Justin Hunter. At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified on his own behalf. Bryan Able and Aaron Taylor, Esquires, testified for the State. By order filed November 27, 2017, Judge Sprouse denied Petitioner's application in its entirety. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. Thereafter, Petitioner filed his Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). On appellate review, courts give great deference to a post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is any evidence in the record to support them. Smalls, 422 S.C. at 179, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40 (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013); Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000)). However, pure questions of law will be reviewed *de novo* without deference to the lower court. Id. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCPP; Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the [proceeding] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813. The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. "There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case." Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id., 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. When there has been a guilty plea, the applicant must prove counsel's representation was below the standard of reasonableness and that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58-59 (1985); Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668.

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly determined trial counsel was not constitutionally ineffective in advising Petitioner on the potential sentence he faced prior to entering his guilty plea.

Petitioner asserts Counsel was ineffective in his representation because Counsel improperly advised Petitioner on the sentence he would serve after entering his guilty plea. During the post-conviction relief hearing, Petitioner testified Counsel “gave him the impression” he would only serve six months after pleading guilty. (Appx. 69.) However, the record clearly indicates Petitioner was informed by Judge Addy, Counsel, and the State that the State was recommending a five year sentence prior to Petitioner entering his guilty plea. Petitioner was also informed that his charge, first degree assault and battery, carries a sentence of up to ten years. During the plea hearing, Counsel successfully argued on Petitioner’s behalf for Petitioner to receive credit for five-hundred and fifty-six days, which not only included days Petitioner served in jail, but also days Petitioner spent on probation. Additionally, Petitioner testified he had not been promised anything in return for his guilty plea. (Appx. 9.) The lower court properly found Counsel was not ineffective in his representation of Petitioner, as Petitioner was properly informed of the sentence he was facing and was not prejudiced by the sentence imposed. Further, Counsel cannot be responsible for the “impression” Petitioner developed based on his own calculations and predictions about the sentence he believed he should have received. Therefore, this Court should deny certiorari.

Petitioner went on to testify, “[Counsel] gave me the impression that I was going down the road to do 6 months, because on a non-violent sentence you do 30 months.” (Appx. 69.) Petitioner was asked if Counsel told him specifically he would do six months and Petitioner responded, “Yeah, isn’t that what was said, [Counsel], it was six months.” (Appx. 69.) Even

during his own testimony, Petitioner was unsure whether Counsel specifically told him he would serve six months in jail. “Wishful thinking regarding sentencing does not equal a misapprehension concerning the possible range of sentences, especially where one acknowledges on the record that one knows the range of sentences and that no promises have been made,” as Petitioner did here. Wolfe, 326 S.C. at 165, 485 S.E.2d at 371; see App. pp. 3, 9-10, 58. See also State v. Cantrell, 250 S.C. 376, 380, 158 S.E.2d 189, 191-92 (1967) (“The accused and his counsel were presumed to know that probation was a matter wholly within the discretion of the court, and they had no right to assume the result of the exercise of that discretion. An accused is not permitted to speculate on the supposed clemency of the judge and enter a plea of guilty with the right to retract it if he finds that his expectation was not realized.”).

Here, the record is very clear that Petitioner was informed of his charge and sentence during the guilty plea hearing. Petitioner testified, aside from the five year recommendation, he had not been promised anything in return for his guilty plea and raised no further issues with the plea judge. (Appx. 9.) In fact, Petitioner thanked Counsel for his representation and told the post-conviction relief court that, but for Counsel, Petitioner would be “rotting in jail.” (Appx. 56.) Near the end of the plea hearing, Petitioner was given the opportunity to address the court and Petitioner stated, “Just want [Counsel] to go ahead and get it over with.” (Appx. 12.) Even though Petitioner was provided the opportunity, he failed to raise any issues or concerns regarding his sentence with the court or Counsel at that time.

Additionally, Petitioner has also failed to show how he was prejudiced by Counsel’s representation. The Court in Strickland stated, “If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, which we expect will often be so, that course should be followed.” Strickland, 466 U.S. 688 at 670. Here, Petitioner’s case can easily be

disposed of for lack of prejudice. Petitioner was originally charged with two counts of attempted murder, two counts of criminal domestic violence, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Pursuant to the plea negotiation, Petitioner only pled guilty to a reduced charge of first degree assault and battery and received a generous five year sentence with a generous credit five-hundred and fifty-six days for time served. Counsel testified during the guilty plea hearing that, “[Petitioner] was looking at 0 to 30, [at] eighty-five percent. So obviously a strike and the State made a very generous offer which we appreciate. ...At one point we were ready to go to trial but [Petitioner] and I together as a team decided to do this, it was in his best interest.” (Appx. 10-11.) Counsel further explained to the court that the recommended sentence was five years and not just time served because of Petitioner’s criminal history. (Appx. 11.) It is clear from the record that the plea judge and Counsel discussed the charge and sentence with Petitioner prior to the guilty plea. It is also clear from the record that Petitioner not only received a “generous offer” from the State, but he also received the benefit of a generous credit of time served from the lower court. Petitioner has failed to show how he was prejudiced by Counsel’s representation and, consequently, fails to meet the burden set forth in Strickland. Therefore, certiorari should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari should be denied. Should this Court grant the Petition for writ of certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.